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numerous errors, including, without limitation to, the admission of evidence
inadmissible under the best evidence rule, the absence of any witness testimony
of any actus reus; the failure of two governmental bodies, to accord two process
rights in regard to property interests in conducting a purported investigation; the
failure to inventory the contents of a certain motor vehicle then in the possession
of Petitioner/Appellant, the failure to produce documents about the existence of a
certain device owned by the subject water system;

6. For all the reasons heretofore set out in counsel’'s arguments in the
proceedings before the Environmental Protection Agency and well documented
in prior submissions, your Petitioner/Appellant presents unto this Honorable
Board that:

(a) The finding of the Director and his delegatee, the Administrative

Law Judge and her delegatee, were arbitrary, unreasonable and
against the manifest weight of the evidence;

(b)  The evidence presented at hearing was insufficient to sustain to
even a preponderance the EPA’s burden;

(c) The combined governmental method of investigation manifestly
abridged and traversed the constitutional rights and is in
Petitioner/Appellant’s property interests into both his license and
position of employment;

7. Critical evidentiary rulings on objections were each so manifestly

wrong that the determination of the Director cannot stand;



8. Taken as a whole, the aggregate sum of the errors made by the
Administrative Law Judge on evidentiary matters deprived your
Petitioner/Appellant of a fair hearing;

9. Your Petitioner is a longstanding operator of good repute,
notwithstanding all the foregoing, even if the finding of the Director and her
delegatee are correct that violations had occurred, the sanction proposed is
extreme and unfounded in the context of the totality of evidence presented
herein;

WHEREFORE, your Petitioner/Appellant prays as follows:.

A. That the EPA present unto this Honorable Board the complete
record of the instant cause;

B. That each party be given the opportunity to brief the claims of error
and misapplication in detail;

C. That this Board reverse outright, reverse and remand or modify to a
lesser sanction the order of the Director, set forth here as Exhibit 1;

D. Such other and further relief as may be just, lawful and appropriate
in the premises. |

JAMES POTTS, Petitioner/Appellant,

xy” Anth’ y:B Cameron, /
His /«\ttorney

ANTHONY B. CAMERON - 0374555
Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant
529 Hampshire, Suite 511
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on July 29, 2015, the original and three copies of the
foregoing was placed in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the following:

John Therriault, Clerk of the Board
lllinois Pollution Control Board
James R. Thompson Center

100 W. Randolph

Suite 11-500

Chicago, lllinois 60601

and a copy was placed in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the
following:

lllinois Environmental Protection Agency
1021 North Grand Avenue East

P.O. Box 1927

Springdfield, lllinois 62794-9276
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

STATE OF ILLINOQIS
with the Docket Clerk
IN THE MATTER OF: JUN 23 2015
SUSPENSION OR REVOCATION inois Eqvimnmemal
OF PWS OPERATOR CERTIFICATION DLC No. 299-13 Protection Agency

JAMES POTTS,
ID NO. 194068252

Public Water Operator
Certificate of Competency

FINAL DECISION

I, LISA BONNETT, Director of the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, having
received and reviewed the Hearing Officer’s Proposal for Decision of March 11, 2015 as well as
the Respondent’s Objections And Exceptions to Proposed Finding received April 7, 2015, do
hereby adopt as my Final Decision the aforementioned Proposal for Decision with modifications
as set forth below pursuant to 35 Ill. Adm. Code 168.325 and 681.725:

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

In this action, the Complainant, Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (“Ilinois
EPA"), alleged the Class A Water Supply Operator Certification held by the Respondent, James
Potts, should be revoked because he entered and initialed daily results in December 2012 and
January 2013 rnonthly operating reports without cornpletm0 the necessary laboratory testing to
complete the reports.' The Respondent denied the allegations.”

Final hearing in this matter was held on May 21 and 22. 2014 at the Adams County
Courthouse in Quincy, Illinois. Illinois EPA was represented by Assistant Counsels Rex L.
Gradeless and Joanne Olson, while the Respondent was represented by Anthony B. Cameron.

The Complainant called seven witnesses and presented 20 exhibits, of which 19 were
admitted into evidence. The Respondent called one witness and presented no exhibits. The
Complainant then called two rebuttal witnesses.

Follovun0 the close of the Complainant’s case in chief, the Respondent moved for
directed fmdmos Argument was heard on the motion, which was taken under advisement.*

The parties agreed to conduct their closing arguments by written brief. On July 18, 2014,
Ilinois EPA’s Closing Brief in Support of Complaint for Sanctions was filed. On August 8,

! Complamt for Sanctions.

* Answer of Respondent to Complaint for Sanctions.
*R.371:45.

*R.371:4-373:24.
1
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2014, Respondent’s Closing Brief was filed. On August 29, 2014, Ilinois EPA's Reply Brief in
Response to Respondent’s Closing Brief was filed.

On March 11, 2015, the Hearing Ofticer issued his Proposal for Decision.

On April 2, 2015, the Respondent served his Objections And Exceptions to Proposed
Finding, which was received by the Office of the Director on April 7, 2015.

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS AT ISSUE

In its Complaint for Sanctions filed October 1, 2013, Hlinois EPA sought sanctions
against the Respondent pursuant to Section 10(d) of the Public Water Supply Operations Act,
415 ILCS 45/0.01 et seq. (“the Act™), as well as 35 1ll. Adm. Code 680.702.

Section IO(d)5 of the Act provides as follows:

§ 10. The Agency shall exercise the following functions, powers, and duties with
respect to community water supply operator certification::

(d) The Agency may suspend, revoke, or refuse to issue any certificate of
competency for any one or any combination of the following causes:
(1) the practice of any fraud or deceit in obtaining or attempting to obtain,
renew, or restore a certificate of competency;
(2) any gross negligence, incompetency, misconduct, or falsification of
reports in the operation of a water supply;
(3) being declared to be a person under legal disability by a court of
competent jurisdiction and not thereafter having been lawfully declared to
be a person not under legal disability or to have recovered; or
(4) failure to comply with any of the Rules pertaining to the operation of a
water supply. '

Section 680.702°, which has subsequently been repealed’, provided as follows:

a) Any person may initiate the procedure for sanction by filing a written
complaint with the Agency. The complaint shall state the name and address of the
complainant. the name of the operator and all information that supports the
complaint. If the Agency determines that the complaint is duplicitous or frivolous,
it shall notity the person filing the complaint, but shall take no further action.

b) If the Agency determines that a sanction procedure is warranted, either on the
basis of a valid complaint or on its own motion, it shall notify the operator by
certified mail.

T 415 ILCS 45/10(d).
® 35 I1l. Adm. Code 680.702.
"35 1. Adm. Code 680.702 was replaced by 35 Til. Adm. Code 681.710.
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¢) Such notice shall specify the cause for which sanctions is sought and shall meet
the requirements of the Agency's Procedures for Contested Case Hearings, 35 Ill.
Adm. Code 168.

Section 681.720° provides as follows:
Section 681.720 Advisory Board

a) The hearing officer shall provide a copy of the hearing transcript to the
Advisory Board. The Agency shall pay the cost of providing transcripts.

b) The Advisory Board shall recommend on the basis of the hearing
transcript whether a sanction is appropriate and, if a sanction is
appropriate, the suspension or revocation period.

) The Advisory Board recommendation shall be submitted in writing to the

Docket Clerk within 30 days after receipt of transcripts and shall include a
statement of reasons for the Advisory Board's actions.

d) The Agency may issue a decision without the Advisory Board's
recommendation if the Advisory Board fails to submit its recommendation
within 30 days after its receipt of the hearing transcript.

Section 681.730° provides as follows:

Section 681.730 Sanctions

a) The decision between revocation and suspension shall be based on the
following:
) The severity of the violations that led to the sanction, including,

but not limited to:

A) The frequency or duration of the violations; and

B) The impact on the public water supply’s ability to provide
water that is assuredly safe in quality, clean, adequate in
quantity, and of satisfactory mineral characteristics for

ordinary domestic consumption;

2) The recalcitrance of the operator in preventing the recurrence of
the violations; and

3) Any other mitigating or aggravating factors.

* 35 Ill. Adm. Code 681.720.
" 35 1ll. Adm. Code 681.730.



b) I a Certificate of Competency is suspended, it shall be considered void for
a period of time determined by the Director not to exceed 1V2 years. The
Director shall set the suspension period according to the factors listed in
subsection (a). Experience obtained during the period of suspension shall
not be credited towards meeting the requirements of Section 681.500 of
this Part. At the end of this period, the suspended certificate shall be
considered valid until its expiration.

c) If a Certificate of Competency is revoked, the operator cannot reapply for
a new Certificate of Competency for a period of not less than 1% years but
not more than four years, as determined by the Director. The Director
shall set the revocation period according to the factors listed in subsection

(a).

d) After a Certificate of Competency is revoked, an operator cannot be
granted a new certificate until after the period set pursuant to subsection
(c) has elapsed. In order to obtain a new certificate, the operator must
successtully complete a written examination for the class of certificate,
sought and meet the requirements of Subpart E. Experience gained prior
to revocation shall be credited towards meeting the requirements described
in Section 681.500 of this Part. However, any experience obtained during
the period set pursuant to subsection (c) will not be credited towards
certification.

EXHIBITS ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE

Complainant’s Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description

C-1A Color photograph of Mt. Sterling water treatment plant laboratory
C-1B Color photograph of spectrophotometer, reagents, and calculator
C-1C Color photograph of glassware, pH meter, and sample tap

C-1D Color photograph of sample tap, pH meter, and turbidity monitor
C-1E Color photograph of plant stairway to sample tap for raw water
C-1F Color photograph of DR/2000 spectrophotometer and vials

C-1G Color photograph of sink with gooseneck tap and pH meter

C-1H Color photograph of turbidity meter with cleaning products

C-11 Color photograph of DR/2000 spectrophotometer

C-1J Color photograph of beakers, bottle, pH meter, and sample tap
C-2A Monthly Operation And Chemical Feeding Report December 2012
C-2B Monthly Coagulation And Lime Softening Report December 2012
C-2C Monthly Operation And Chemical Feeding Report January 2013
C-2D Monthly Coagulation And Lime Softening Report January 2013
C-3 Case Review Form memo

C-4 Notebook paper with diagram



C-5 WD My Passport Ultra hard drive
C-6 Staples Relay 16GB flash drive
C-8 Notes of Joseph Heberlein while watching videos

Respondent’s Exhibits

None.

FINDINGS OF FACT

I. The Respondent, James Potts, was employed by the Clayton Camp Point Water
Commission from 1994 until 2013." He became a certified operator in 2001."" The Respondent
is certified as a Class A operator, which is the top class.'*

2. As a certified operator, “you're respomlble for everything in the treatment and
operations of that plant,” the Respondent testified.!® The Respondent said that raw water is water
coming in from the wells into the treatment plant, and finished water is what leaves the plant.™
Water is tested before and after treatment."” The Respondent testified that his job duties included
getting readings at the plant and doing lab work.' The Respondent was required to test the
running water every day.'” He took samples daily.'® The Respondent would test for iron,
manganese, pH, temperature, turbidity, fluoride, and chlorine." The Respondent identified
Complainant’s Exhibit C-1A as depicting the lab he worked at.”® The Respondent 1dent1ﬁed it as
the lab where he conducted testing every day because “[y]ou had water running every day."~

John McMahon is employed as the manager of the Clayton Camp Point Water
Commxssmn ** His duties are broad ranging from financial paperwork, loans, to fixing water
breaks—"‘whatever’s required.”* Mc\/[ahon possesses a Class A water operator’s license.” He
also is a licensed master plumber.

4. The Commission’s Quincy plant is a Class C facility, with chemical feed but no
filtration, whereas the Mt. Sterling plant is a Class B facility that removes iron and manganese

R.17:24-18:1; 80:7-20: 88:15-89-4,
"'R. 18:3-5.

YR 19:8-17.
BR.18:7-11.

"R. 18:22-19:4,
YR, 19:5-7.

¥ R.19:21-20:2.

" R. 26:13-16.
BR.47:6-8.
R.26:17-23.
PR, 24:2-12.

'R, 26:3-12.

2 R. 179:1-6.

2 R. 179:7-12.
*R.179:13-22.

~ R, 179:23-180:1.



and uses filtration.® The water is treated and filtered to get the iron and manganese levels down
7
and out.™

5. The water source for the Mt. Sterling plant is a well field in the bottoms area where the
La Moine River goes into the Illinois River.”® Six separate wells pump into two 12-inch mains
that converge shortly before they get to the Mt. Sterling plant and feed into it with blended
water.” The wells are approximately 14 miles away from the plant, with the well field itself
about a mile wide."” The Commission normally does not run all six wells at once.>! With two
wells running, roughly 500 gallons a minute are pumped into the two mains.** It takes 18 to 20
hours from when water enters the main for it to get to the plant.™ McMahon said that both raw
and finished water testing is done in the lab in the treatment plant.™*

6. McMahon testified that a digital video recording device was installed at the M.
Sterling facility in early 2011, replacing an older system.™ The new digital recording device or
system records video to a digital video recorder, or DVR, in a locked cabinet.’® McMahon and
Joe Heberlein have keys to the cabinet.”’

7. There are four cameras at the plant: one in the lab, one out on the loading dock that
catches the loading dock door, one that catches the front door and atrium area, and another on the
front of the building that catches the driveway coming in off the highway and where the
driveway sg)lits around the building.™ The camera in the lab is stationary and mounted up in the
ceiling tile.™ The system records 24 hours a day for 16 days.* McMahon said the system records
the date and time, which was correct in December 2012 and January 2013.*!

8. The Commission has never had any problems or issues with the latest recording

. 2 . . . “
device, the DVR system.™ McMahon said that, in checking the DVR surveillance system, he has
never noticed any irregularities in the recording.™ The surveillance system was in proper

working order in 2012 and 2013.* The Commission checks the recording system randomly but

* R. 180:2-15.

“R. 180:16-18.

¥ R. 180:22-181:4.

¥ R. 181:4-10, 182:4-15. 187:1-4.
R 181:18-182:3.

TR, 18412224,

2 R. 189:6-10.

3R, 184:24-185:6.
HR.191:4-11.

¥R, 197:17-198:3.

R, 198:7-11: 200:16-19: 293:12-14.
TR, 198:14-17.

¥ R. 200:3-15; also 292:17-293:2.
¥ R.201:23-202:8.

P R.201:19-22.

'R, 202:9-15.

R, 199:4-7, 201:17-18.
HR.199:20-23.

R, 199:24-200:2.



at least monthly to make sure the cameras are working, it has recorded, and that everything is in
proper working order.”

9. Employed since 2001 by the Clayton Camp Point Water Commission, Joseph
Heberlein is Assistant Manager and Water Operator.*® Herberlein is familiar with the security
system at the Mt. Sterling plant, with part of his job duties including the review of security
footage.*’ Herberlein reviewed security footage at the Mt. Sterling plant in early January 2013, 48
Heberlein began watching the footage for routine purposes to make sure-the cameras were
working and everything was recording right, but when he noticed that paperwork was being
filled out without any water being turned on or tests done, it prompted him to watch more.*

10. Heberlein noticed the Respondent did not appear to have done the lab tests in the lab
on the first day he reviewed.® Heberlein watched several days of footage to confirm that there
never were tests done when the paperwork was filled out.”’ Heberlein viewed the secunty video
footage for December 26, 27, 28, and 31, 2012 as well as for January 2 and 3, 2013.”* Heberlein
only observed the Respondent run the lab tests on December 31, 2012.%* Herberlein subsequently
took this information to his boss, John McMahon, in early January 2013.>* Heberlein informed
McMahon that the surveillance system showed the Respondent had filled out operating reports
without samples having been taken or testing or lab work done.™

I1. McMahon subsequently reviewed the surveillance recording, which took several
days.™® After reviewing the video, McMahon knew the Respondent had not done the testing, as
he could see that no water had been drawn and no tests were run, which take about a half-hour to
complete.”” Nonetheless, McMahon observed the Respondent on the video filling out the daily
operating reports with no lab being done.™

12. McMabhon reported to the Commission board of directors the fact that the daily sheets
had been filled in and that the monthly report sent to Hlinois EPA had all the categories filled in
without any lab work being done, samples taken, or reagents applied.”® The board subsequently
instructed McMahon to contact its attorney to begin the termination process and to self-report to
Ilinois EPA, which McMahon did.*” The Commission ultimately reported the situation to
lllinois EPA, which led the Commission to receive a violation notice and enter into a

R, 199:8-19.

19 R. 262:10-13: 263:6-8.

T R.292:11-16.
BR.293:5-21.

Y R.293:22-204:11; 340:16-18; 348:9-15.
Y R.340:19-22.

SR, 294:4-11; 341:10-13.
#R.302:13-21.

B R. 318:3-6.

7 R.202:22-203:11: 294:12-21.
*R.203:6-11.

¥ R. 203:12-20; 204:6-8.

R, 217:10-19.

R 217:20-218:1.

P R.212:3-16.
“R.212:22:213:4.



Compliance Commitment Agreement.”" McMahon sent a letter to the Respondent telling him he
. 2
was terminated.®”

13. The Respondent learned he was terminated from the Commission when he received a
termination letter in the mail in April 2013.%

I4. The Respondent does not dispute that the video taken during his work shifts on
December 26, 27, 78 2012, and January 2. and 3, 2013 does not show him doing the tests in the
lab that are at 1ssue * However, the Rupondent contends he never falsified any data on those or
any other days.® Instead. the Respondent claims he conducted the tests outside of the lab in the
well field and at or near a fire hydrant.

15. The Respondent claimed the only instances in which he took raw water samples at the
wells were December 26, 27, and 28, 2012 and “[t]he days that you're claiming I didn’t do my

lab. %

16. On December 26, for example, the Respondent said he conducted the testing in his
company truck.®” The Respondent said he did not recall which well he went to that morning to
get a sample, but he went to whichever one was running, and well four was one of them.®® The
Respondent did not recall whether it was cold or if he had a coat on.%® The Respondent said he
took his raw water sdmple for that day hom the master pit’s vault at the wall, and that there is a
vault with a meter in it and a sample tap.” ® The Respondent said he took one sample from two
wells, mixed them together, then conducted his testing.”! The Respondent said he blended the
samples two or three times inside his truck.”® The Respondent said he tested the water out at the
wells by putting it in a little bottle, pouring a little Bowder pillow in it, setting the bottling in a
portable spectrometer’>, and waiting for the reading.” The Respondent testified he had a variety
of testmo equipment in his truck, including beakers, half a dozen sample bottles, and distilled
water.” The Respondent said he had a pocket pH meter that was portable for field work.”

' R. 203:23-204:3.

2 R.220:14-17.

® R. 80:7-20: 383:18-19.
“R.413:13-414:3,

' R. 416:16-20.

0 R.48:17-22.

TR, 42:21-43:2.

B R.43: 16-24,

*"R. 48:13-16.

" R.45:18-24.

TR, 46:1-9, 19-23.

. 49:24-50:3.

. 346:21-347:1 (Spectrometer and a spectrophotometer are the same things.)
.50:21-51:1.
.61:16-18: 63:18-64:5.
. 50:16.
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17. The Respondent said he followed the s.lme process for the other days at issue:
December 27th and 28th and January 2nd and ?rd The Respondent conducted what he
perceived to be finished water testing at a fire hydrant.”

18. The Respondent claimed that he was able to conduct the testing away from the
treatment plant lab (and its video surveillance camera) and in the field thanks to a portable
spectrometer owned by the Commission. Other witnesses. though, refuted that the Commission
ever owned such a device.

19. The Re»pondent said he conducted his field testing with a portable spectrometer.’ ® He
said it was a Hach 890.%

20. McMahon testified the Commission owns two DR/2000 spectrometers, one at Mt.
Sterling and the other at the Quincy plant, but they are not %)ortable units.*’ He said the
Commission does not own nor has it ever purchased a DR/890.> Mchhon did not give the
Respondent a DR/890 and there was not d DR/890 lying around in the 1ab.** “I’ve never seen a
DR/890 anywhere,” McMahon testified.™ The Commission has trucks, and the operators have
equipment in them.® The operators are not eqLupped with a DR/890 in the truck, and McMahon
did not find a DR/890 in the Respondent's truck.® Herberlein said the Commission did not own
a portable spectrometer.®’

21. David Schenk is a certified operator w ho has been employed by the Clayton Camp
Point Water Commission for more than 25 )ears  He primarily works at the Commission’s
Quincy plant, where his duties include working on and reading meters, making sure the
chemicals are acceptable, checking the water, and testing for chlorine and ﬂuoride ¥ However,
Schenk has worked at both the Commission’s Qumcy and Mt. Sterling plants.”® He goes over
when someone is missing or goes on vaumon " Schenk conducted the daily testmo at the Mt.
Sterling plant the morning of his testimony.”* He conducted the tests in the lab there.”

TR, 49:6-10.
SR.403:12-15.

" R.58:21-59:4,

¥ R.62:19-63:2.
SIR. 215:7-14.
S2R.215:15-18.
SR, 215:23-216:6.
$'R.216:6-7.

B R.216:22-217:3.
$R.217:4-9.

Y R. 337:6-10.
$R.350:14-21.

% R.351:1-13.

0 R.357:21-23.

I R. 358:1-3.
*R.358:3-11.

% R. 358:14-16.



22. Schenk testified that the spectrometer photographed at the Mt. Sterling plant is the
same as that at the Quincy plant.” He does not use any other spectrometers in his duties as an
operator.”® Schenk said he has never seen a mobile spectrometer at the lab in Mt. Sterling.”® He
does not carry a spectrometer in his truck because “[wle don’t check water in the field. We do
everything in the lab.™’

23. Edward Dimler is employed as a technical specialist by the Rochester Midland
Corporation, a specialty chemical manufacturer.”® His job duties include establishing business
with municipalities and industry to prevent scale and corrosion in water systems, boilers, cooling
towers, industrial wastewater, and drinking water.”” Dimler established a relationship selling
chemicals for drinking water clarification to the Clayton Camp Point Water Commission in 1992
or 1993.'" Dimler knew the Respondent trom that business relationship dating back to when the
Respondent began working at the Clayton Camp Point Water Commission around 2000.'%!
Dimlelgjwould visit Mt. Sterling at least quarterly, spending usually an afternoon or morning
there.” ™~

24. Dimler testified he brought an instrument called a Hach DR/890 with him on two
visits, one three years ago and the other two years ago.'® Dimler owned the DR/890.'** Dimler
also testified he had used it on several occasions to run comparisons with other equipment at the
Mt. Sterling facility.'®

25. Dimler testified that, toward the end of April 2014, the Respondent called him about
the instant case.'* It was the first time the Respondent had called him about it.'"”” When he called
him, Dimler was aware the Respondent had not worked at the Commission since January
2013.'"" One of the first questions the Respondent asked Dimler was what the portable meter or
instrument was called that Dimler brought in with him, and Dimler answered “It was a
DR/890.”'" The Respondent then said to Dimler, *Remember, I have one as well?"''° Dimler
responded, “I'm sorry, Jim, I don’t remember that you had one.”""' The Respondent said, “T kept
it over on the counter by the chlorine meter.”''* Dimler said he did not recall seeing one.!"?

W See R. 159:22-160:0.

'R 163:13-164:4.

PR, 165:23-24: 166:11-14,
3R, 167:8-14: also R. 168:5-14.
4R, 172:21-23.

103 R. 165:23-166:4.

06 R, 164:10-22; 177:5-12.

7R, 164:23-165:1.

8 R 177:5-16.

99 R. 165:4-6.

R. 165:6-7, 19-22; 173:17-22; 174:10-13.
"R, 165:7-8.

"R, 165:8-9.

"R 165:9-10. 169:2-5, [74:2-3,



Dimler testified that the Respondent said it would help him out if Dimler remembered seeing
it.'"* Dimler did not know whether the Commission owned a DR/890.'" Dimler testified that,
although they might have had one, Dimler had never seen a DR/890 at the Mt. Sterling plant.''®

26. The Respondent testified that reagents were powder pillows that go in the bottles that
g0 into the spectrometer to give a reading.'!” The Respondent said he used the reagents from the
desktop spectrometer with the mobile spectrometer.!'™ Heberlein subse uently testified that he
was familiar with the DR/2000 spectrometer. using it almost every day.'!” He said it used a water
sample size of 25 mils.'*® Dimler, by contrast, did not know the sample size of the DR/2000, but
said the sample size for the portable DR/890 was 10 mil, or milliliters.'*' Heberlein said that, for
the DR/2000. reagent in packs premeasured for 25 mil samples are used.'** The reagent packs at
the Mt. Sterling plant are designed for 25 milliliter samples.'* Heberlein said that, for a 10
milliliter sample, a different amount of reagent would be used.'*

27. The Respondent subsequently testified that the first reagent pillows he used for the
portable spectrometer in his truck were the larger size.'** The Respondent testified he used about
half a 25 mil packet, just kind of eyeballing it.'** However, the Respondent said he eventually
looked around back in the lab and found 10 mil packets, so he had both the 25 mil and 10 mil in
his truck.'”” He testified that, on the five days, the Respondent did not use any of the larger
reagent pillows in whole.'*

28. As noted above, the Respondent testified that he tested raw water by taking a sample
from two wells and repeatedly mixing or blending them together in his truck before conducting
his testing.'?

29. Heberlein said raw water is sampled as it comes into the plant from a tap at a sink at
the bottom of stairs.'*’ McMahon testified that no one has ever taken raw water samples for daily
testing out of the wells; that is always taken at the raw water tap on the landing in the water
treatment plant.'*' Schenk never has gone out to the wells to take daily samples because “it all
gets done at the plant.”"*

"R, 169:6-9.

IR 172:15-20.

HOR.165:13-18. 169:9-10. 170:24-171:4: 171:20-172:14.
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30. McMahon said that taking a sample from one well would not be representative of the
blended water that was being treated, as that water is blended from two mains and is 18 to 20
hours old.'*® Even if one were to take samples from each and every well, blend them all together,
and then take a sample. McMahon said that would not be representative of what was being
treated at that time because that would be fresh water compared to the water that had been in the
mains for 18 or 20 hours before getting to the plant.'** Heberlein said he would not conduct daily
testing from the well fields because it is not the water that is at the plant, which is blended water
from several different wells.'" Testing samples combined from operating wells would be poor
technique, as it would not be a representative sample of the water being treated at the plant.'*

31. Schenk has never gone out to the Quincy facility’s three wells, grabbed a sample
from each, mixed them up, and then run his daily sam les.'*” Schenk has never gotten raw water
from wells for testing of values from a spectrometer.'® If an operator were to go out to the wells,
grab samples from a couple of them, combine them, then test them for iron and manganese, that
would be poor technique, not recommended, and Schenk would not do it.'**

32. The Respondent had not seen anything saying that he was to test at the well sites, and
he did not test daily at the well sites.'* No one instructed the Respondent to do the testing at the
well field."*! “I did it myself.”"**

33. The Respondent also contended that he conducted testing on finished water by
drawing a sample from a fire hydrant.'*' The Respondent testified that no one instructed him to
sample water from a fire hydrant."** The only days that he did so were the days in question; the
Respondent tested the water in the lab on all other days.'*

34. McMabhon testified that, as with raw water testing, finished water testing is done in
the lab in the treatment plant.'*® In the course of obtaining a license and through the Illinois EPA
operator’s handbook, McMahon said that one would know that finished water samples are to be
taken from a tap in the plant.'"”’” “Once it leaves the plant, it’s actually distribution water, not
finished water,” he said.'"*® Once water enters the distribution system, it has left the quality
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control within the plant and you are testing distribution rather than finished water,'* McMahon
said that finished water is taken from the gooseneck faucet in the water treatment plant lab.'™
McMahon said the Respondent has been using this finished water tap since he began his
employment at the Commission."”' Heberlein concurred that finished water is taken from a
gooseneck tap in the lab that is the designated area for taking samples before the water goes out
to distribution.'*?

35. McMahon testified that the Commission opens the hydrants in the fall to flush them
as part of routine maintenance to make sure they work and see how water quality is."™ It does
not flush them in the winter due to the risk from freezing, because if it does not drain back
properly, the hydrant can freeze and become inoperable.'™ The only time Schenk has opened fire
hydrants has been to flush a line."” Schenk has never gone out to a dead-end line for his daily
samples, as “[t]here’s no reason to ... everything’s done at the plant.”'*® A dead-end line is on
the distribution system.'”’ Daily testing of treated water is conducted before it gets to
distribution.'*®

36. Heberlein has never performed the daily tests of water samples that are recorded in
the monthly operating report in his truck, in the well field, or any place other than the lab." That
is because daily tests are required to be done at the taps at the plant.'®

37. McMahon said testing water out of fire hydrants would be improper due to
contamination in there.'®" A test of water out of a hydrant would not be an accurate test of the
. hl
water being produced at the plant.'®

38. McMahon never instructed the Respondent to sample raw water out at the wells or
finished water out at fire hydrants.'®® The Respondent never indicated that he conducted the
testing on December 26, 27, and 28, 2012 and January 2 and 3, 2013 in his truck until the day of
the hearing.'* The Respondent provided no remarks in the daily operating reports that he
conducted the testing in the truck.'®
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39. McMahon said it would not be normal for an operator to do daily testing in his
truck.'® Anytime he has conducted testing on water for entry into the monthly report, Schenk
has conducted it in a lab."®" It is Schenk’s understanding that daily lab testing should be done in
the laboratory: “We do everything at the lab, yes.“m8

40. The Respondent testified that he decided to conduct the testing someplace other than
the lab because he was trying to figure out what was eating up the chlorine in the finished water,
and the raw water coming into the plant had coloration and odor.'® The ResPondent claimed he
had operators from other towns call him saying their chlorine was dropping.'® The Respondent
said he conducted the testing in the field because he was “[jlust trying to find out what that
unknown substance was in the water, hoping to catch it at the well field to what it was.”!"!

41. The Respondent testified that the purpose of having the portable device in his truck
was to check for chlorine leaks out on lines and check fluoride levels so when he received calls
from other water companies about their fluoride being low or they had seen a leak, the
Respondent could see whether it was the Commission’s water or not.'’* The Respondent did not
discuss his concerns with anyone at the Commission at that time “because I was gathering
data.”'™ McMahon testified that, if calls reporting low chlorine residual were received, they
would test in the area of the calls and not in the well fields, as no chlorine is applied at the well
fields.'”” The Respondent said he never got a clue as to what the chlorine problem was.'” The
Respondent conceded that conducting his testing in the field was “a little sloppy to do it that
way,” but that was he was looking for an unknown value, which is why he used a portable.l76

42. The testimony of McMahon, Heberlein, Schenk, and Dimler regarding water testing
procedures, reagent pillows, and the portable spectrometer or DR/890 was consistent, credible,
and persuasive. The Respondent’s testimony concerning the same was not. Whenever cenfronted
with a fact that thwarted his previous version of events, the Respondent alleged a new version
which itself would either be undermined by subsequent facts or would be highly implausible.

43. The Respondent’s contention that he juggled an array of equipment between the
wells, a fire hydrant, and his truck to conduct tests that could be easily performed in a lab from
samples drawn from readily accessible taps strained credulity and appeared little more than an
attempt to avoid the video surveillance evidence showing he did not conduct the tests. The
Respondent’s explanation that he conducted the field testing to get to the bottom of a chlorine
issue was undercut by McMahon’s testimony as well as the fact that the Respondent did not
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document or share such a deviation from normal testing protocols for this purpose with anyone at
the Commission.

44. Dimler's testimony was particularly disturbing. as it strongly suggested the
Respondent solicited Dimler to fabricate a story to help him out, even though he did so without
asking Dimler outright to lie. The Respondent claimed a former Commission employee had
purchased various lab equipment on behalf of the Commission that included a DR/890 portable
spectrometer and that the Commission withheld a bill of sale that would prove it, but the
Respondent supported his claim with no credible evidence. The Respondent's testimony
concerning the portable spectrometer or DR/890, including its existence and ownership and the
Respondent’s purported use of it, lacked all credibility, as did his proffered reasoning for
conducting daily water testing in the well fields and at a fire hydrant.

45. The Complainant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the Respondent did
not conduct the daily testing he was required to perform as a certified operator on December 26,
2012; December 27, 2012; December 28, 2012; January 2, 2013; and January 3, 2013.

46. The Respondent further contended that he wrote down the results of his tests in the
field on a piece of paper, but that he did not need to consult it (as evidenced by the video
recording) when he wrote down those results in the Commission’s records each day.

47. The Respondent testified that his job duties included getting readings at the plant and
doing lab work.'”” He would pick up a clipboard in the lab, go around and get all the readings,
return, and set it right back where it was.!” When he would conduct his lab work, the
Respondent said he recorded the results on what he called “the EPA sheet.”'”’

48. The Respondent identified Complainant's Exhibits C-2A through D as EPA
documents for writing lab tests down and chemicals used.'*’ He said that if a particular daily
entry contained his initials, that meant the Respondent had conducted the testing for that day.'®!
The Respondent identified his initials on documents for January 2013."®* Both the December
2012 and January 2013 documents included numbers obtained from spectrometer readings as
well as from a pH meter.'®?

49. After the Respondent claimed he conducted his tests in the truck, the Respondent said
he recorded them on sheets back at the lab.'™* The Respondent said he memorized the results of
the lab work he conducted in the field.'"™ When the video showed him entering values onto the
monthly sheet, the Respondent said he had them memorized from after his testing.'®® In addition
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to remembering the test results, the Respondent also would write them down on a little piece of
paper for reference.'® When he returned to the lab and entered the findings in the EPA report,
the Res?ondent said he would put the paper in his pocket, and at some point it got thrown
away.'®® The Respondent said he never had to reach into his pocket to record any of the results,
as he just remembered them all.'"® The Respondent said he never had to refer to the paper he
prepared in the field to write his values down.'”

50. Heberlein testified he did not observe the Respondent take anything out of his pocket
or consult anything before writing upon the monthly operating report.'”’ However, when he
viewed video of the Respondent running the lab tests on December 31, 2012, Heberlein observed

192

that, after conducting each test, the Respondent wrote the results down. ’

51. The Respondent’s claim that he conducted the daily testing for the five days in
question outside the view of the Mt. Sterling lab camera and in the field lacks credibility.
However, the Respondent undermined whatever credibility he might have had left with his
contention that he was able to conduct the various tests in the field and then memorize the results
for entry in the Commission’s records at a later time without consulting a note or other record,
the act of which would otherwise have been observed on the security footage. The Respondent
did not demonstrate such a remarkable memory elsewhere in his testimony.

52. The Complainant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the data the
Respondent entered in the Commission’s records for the results of the daily testing he was
required to conduct as a certitied operator were fabricated by the Respondent for the dates of
December 26, 2012; December 27, 2012; December 28, 2012: January 2, 2013; and January 3,
2013.

53. John Bartolomucci works as a field engineer in the Complainant’s Division of Public
Water Supplies. where he has worked since August 1999.'* His job duties include inspecting
and conducting engineering evaluations at water treatment plants.'”™ About four community
water supplies are inspected each month, with each individual plant being evaluated about every
three years.'” Bartolomucci is familiar with the Clayton Camp Point Water Commission, as he
conducts inspections of the Commission’s facilities, including both the Mt. Sterling and Quincy
plants.”® He conducted the last two or three M. Sterling plant inspections.'®’

54. Prior to a site visit, Bartolomucci reviews a facility’s monthly operating reports since
the last inspection, particularly the reports from the past year, which are used to calculate
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average usages.'” Bartolomucci relies on data in monthly operating reports when conducting
inspections.'” For example, Bartolomucci will review a year of such reports and, based upon
what is reported, determine the average daily water pumpage and maximum pumpage.”™
Bartolomucci looks at the results recorded on monthly operating reports of testing done on water
samples.”®! He reviews reported comparison test numbers as well as calculations, such as the
milligrams per liter of chemicals added to the water based upon the amount of solution fed, the
gallons of water treated, and the concentration of the solution.”™ In the past, Bartolomucci
reviewed monthly operating reports for the Mt. Sterling plan when preparing for inspections at
the Clayton Camp Point Water Commission.””

55. Bartolomucci testified that the required daily testing is designed to alert a facility if its
water is unsafe.™™ Daily testing of water samples is important to verify the quality of the
water.”™ He said that it is important that the data in the monthly operating report is true so that
you can trust it.™® “I mean, in order to verify it. it has to be accurate,” Bartolomucci testified."’
If water is not tested daily, a community water supply risks that its water does not meet water
quality standards and is unsafe to drink.™ There could be bacteria in the water, and it is possible
that a community water supply could cause somebody to become ill by the water that it
distributes.”” One reason it is important to test daily is to ensure that chemicals being added are
not overfed.”'” Community water supplies have classifications based upon their treatment, with
some adding chemicals and some not.”'! The Mt. Sterling plant adds chemicals.?"

56. Any failure to accurately record values in a facility of the Commission’s type could
implicate public health.*"? Any falsification of material data on daily entries for a monthly report,
particularly if sustained, implicates public health.”'* If someone is willfully entering false data,
that person probably is not trustworthy enough to maintain operator status.”"

57. The Complainant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the Respondent
entered fabricated data into the Commission’s records for the results of the daily testing he was
required to conduct as a certified operator, and that the Respondent entered this false information
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into reports required to be submitted to Illinois EPA on December 26, 2012; December 27, 2012;
December 28, 2012; January 2, 2013 and January 3, 2013.

58. Michael Crumly testified that he had worked for the Complainant, Illinois EPA, for
26 years.”'® Crumly had been the manager of the Drinking Water Compliance Assurance
Section. with duties that included overseeing the implementation of state and federal rules and
regulations and managing day-to-day compliance activities.”"’ Crumly’s job duties included
evaluating systems for compliance with the law 18

59. Crumly eXPlained that community water supplies must monitor periodically for
different contaminants.”"” Crumly said community water supplies conduct daily tests in the field
and many sample at their water plans to ensure treatment is working appropriately.220 Samples
collected by community water supplies for daily tests are not required to be submitted to a
certified laboratory.”' Crumly said those samples are analyzed using field equipment, such as
thermometers and pH kits.”™ It is the community water supgly operator’s responsibility to
oversee things that are going on in the water system at the plant.z“3

60. Crumly opined that an operator who falsified monthly operating reports should be
sanctioned with revocation “[b]ecause our whole industry is based on trust of self-reporting. And
N . . . 23
if you don’t know what's in the water, then you can get people sick.”***

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Complainant in this action had the burden to prove by the preponderance of the
evidence its allegations against the Respondent.™

2. As noted above, the Respondent moved for directed findings at the close of the
Complainant’s case in chief, and the motion was taken under advisement.>*® The Respondent
cited no legal authority that the Hearing Officer was empowered to rule upon such a motion, and
no such authority has become known to the Hearing Officer since the hearing, whether through
the parties’ briefs or otherwise. At the point in the record at which the Respondent moved for
directed findings, however, the Complainant had satisfied its prima facie case, and, thus, denial
of the motion would have been appropriate. To the extent the Hearing Officer may possess as-of-
yet undiscovered authority to rule on a motion for directed findings, it is now denied as moot.
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3. In Respondent’s Closing Brief, the Respondent asserts he has been denied the
constitutional due process protections enumerated by the U.S. Supreme Court in Cleveland
Board of Education v. Loudermill™’. That case established that public employers must provide
certain pre-termination procedures before removing an employee, including (1) oral or written
notice of the charges; (2) an explanation of the employer’'s evidence; and (3) an opportunity for
the employee to tell his side of the story.”

The Respondent contends he was not afforded these due process requirements prior to his
termination by the Clayton Camp Point Water Commission, and that Illinois EPA “then
perpetuated the constitutional error’” by relying upon information provided by the Commission in
bringing this action. The Respondent argues “[tlhe [Illinois] EPA, as an element of state
government. and particularly its lawyers, are touched with knowledge that governmental
employers are required to afford Loudermill due process protections. Yet, the [Illinois] EPA has
no record of a Loudermill hearing.” The Respondent claims the Commission’s failure to abide by
Loudermill resulted in the spoliation of evidence, although his argument is largely speculative.
The Respondent further contends Illinois EPA should have interviewed him promptly and should
have examined documents of Commission purchases to substantiate his claim that the
Commission owned a portable spectrometer and that he used that for the sampling on the days in
question. Instead. the Respondent argues Illinois EPA “failed to do anything but take the
Commission’s word for what may or may not have occurred, knowing that Mr. Potts has not yet
been heard from and proceeds to file an action without ever giving a long-term licensee a chance
to explain what actually occurred.”

Imposing Loudermill obligations upon third-party agencies could result in thwarting
those agencies’ abilities to carry out duly authorized licensing, permitting, or certifying actions
based upon the procedural errors of parties whose termination practices lie beyond the agencies’
scope of authority and control. The Respondent’s argument would allow an incompetent operator
to etfectively enjoy immunity as to her certification if her employer also were incompetent in
terminating her.

Notably absent from the Respondent’s five-page Loudermill argument, however, is
citation to any authority that the Loudermill due process requirements that are imposed upon a
public employer such as the Commission somehow extend to third parties such as Illinois EPA
and were in any way applicable to non-employment proceedings, such as the instant action. The
Respondent’s termination is not at issue in this matter, only whether his actions or inactions
provide sufficient cause warranting sanction of his certification. The Respondent’s Loudermill
arguments are red herrings, and as such are rejected. Loudermill is inapplicable to the instant
case.

4. Pursuant to Section 681.720 of the Water Supply Operator Certification regulations™,
the Hearing Officer provided a copy of the hearing transcript and documentary exhibits to the
Water Supply Operator Certification Advisory Board by Certified Mail on June 10, 2014, with
the Board receiving it on June 12, 2014. The video exhibits were previously provided to the
Board on DVD.

By letter dated July 8, 2014 and received on July 10, 2014, the Board provided its
recommendation” as to whether a sanction was appropriate and, if so, the suspension or
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revocation period. The Board found Illinois EPA’s allegation of the Respondent’s falsification of
laboratory results “to be convincing and sides with the State.” The full Board unanimously
recommended the revocation ot the Respondent’s Public Water Supply Operator Certification.

In Respondent’s Closing Brief, the Respondent argues the Board’s recommendation
should be stricken. The Respondent contends the Board impermissibly reversed the burden of
proof and persuasion from Illinois EPA onto the Respondent when stating that “Board members
felt that Mr. Potts’ defense was without merit.”” The Respondent also argues the Board’s
statement that the Respondent’s “claim of having additional testing equipment in his truck that
his employer had no knowledge of and was no longer locatable was unprovable™ was one that
impermissibly invaded the province of the Hearing Office’s credibility determination. Finally,
the Respondent argues the Board improperly cited U.S. Weather Service temperature
information not found in the record of this case.

Administrative regulations have the force and effect of law.™" The familiar rules that
govern construction of statutes apply as well to administrative regulations.23 ! Like statutes,
administrative regulations are presumed valid.”* Section 681.720 of the Water Supply Operator
Certification regulations requires the Water Supply Operator Certification Advisory Board to
submit- “a recommendation on the basis of the hearing transcript whether a sanction is
appropriate and, if a sanction is appropriate, the suspension or revocation.”*" That section also
provides that the recommendation is to be in writing and “shall include a statement of reasons for
the Advisory Board's actions.”™

In his Proposal for Decision, the Hearing Ofticer wrote the following: “And though the
Respondent complains of the Board's comments about facts being unprovable, the Respondent
himself came forward with those facts and argued them in his defense, thus the Respondent had
the burden of proving them. The Recommendation merely reflects that they were unable to be
proven in the Board’s view.” (Proposal for Decision at 20-21.) The Respondent contends that the
statement concerning the burden of proof “is noxiously and irretrievably error.” Resp.’s
Objections at 13. The Respondent is mistaken.

The Hearing Officer’s statement was made within discussion concerning the Water
Supply Operator Certification Advisory Board's recommendation, which itself is not binding.
Further, the term “burden of proof™ has two aspects: the burden of producing evidence as to a
particular matter, and the burden of persuading the trier of fact as to the existence of the fact
asserted. E.g., Bd. of Trade of City of Chicago v. Dow Jones & Co., 108 1ll. App. 3d 681, 686
(Ist Dist. 1982). The burden of persuasion rests upon one party and does not shift during the
course of a trial, whereas the burden of production, also known as the burden of going forward,
shifts from party to party during the course of a trial. /d. For example, “once the plaintiffs set
forth a prima facie case, the burden ot production shifts to the defendants to come forward with
evidence.” Ambrose v. Thorton Township School Trustees, 274 1ll. App. 3d 676, 680 (lst Dist.
1995). Consequently, when the Hearing Officer spoke of the Respondent having the burden of
proving facts he had asserted and argued in his defense, the Hearing Officer spoke in terms of the
burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, which remained at all times upon the
Complainant. Further, while the Recommendation does speak of the Respondent’s defense being
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without merit, it also stated that the Board found the State’s allegations to be convincing, thus
suggesting that it knew the State had the burden of convincing or persuading with its proof.

The Respondent makes no argument that Section 681.720 is invalid. As it is an
administrative regulation, Section 681.720 has the force and effect of law. Thus, the Board was
required to provide the recommendation specified. Further, neither Section 11 of the Public
Water Supply Operations Act™ nor the Water Supply Operator Certification regulations,
including Section 681.720, require the Board to know and apply the appropriate evidentiary and
other legal rules to their recommendation; it is, after all, a recommendation, and no argument has
been made that it is binding upon the Hearing Officer or the Director.

That said, the Board was required to make its recommendation based upon the hearing
transcript. Whether it must be based solely upon the transcript and cannot be based in part upon
extrinsic information is uncertain. Nonetheless, to the extent the Board's recommendation is
based upon stated reasons that lie outside the hearing transcript, those reasons have been given
no weight in this Final Decision.

5. As addressed in the Findings of Fact, the Complainant proved by a preponderance of
the evidence that the Respondent did not conduct the daily testing he was required to perform as
a certified operator on December 26, 2012; December 27, 2012; December 28, 2012; January 2,
2013; and January 3, 2013. In failing to conduct the tests for five nearly consecutive days, the
Respondent went beyond incompetency in not complying with the applicable standard of care—
daily testing of raw and finished water—and instead committed misconduct and gross
negligence, as the repeated failure to conduct the tests evidenced a disregard for the potential
harm which could befall the water supply and public without such tests in place to protect them.
Thus, the Complainant also has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that the Respondent
committed gross negligence, misconduct, and incompetency in the operation of a public water
supply.

6. Further, and as also addressed in the Findings of Fact, the Complainant proved by a
preponderance of the evidence that the Respondent entered fabricated data into the
Commission’s records for the results of the daily testing he was required to conduct as a certified
operator, and that the Respondent entered this false information into reports required to be
submitted to Illinois EPA on December 26, 2012; December 27, 2012; December 28, 2012;
January 2, 2013; and January 3, 2013.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent’s actions by falsely reporting results of tests that were never conducted
on samples never drawn constitute severe violations of the Public Water Supply Operations Act.
The falsification of such reports by a certified operator means a public water supply cannot be
assured in its ability to provide water on those dates in question that is “safe in quality, clean,
adequate in qugntity, and of satistactory mineral characteristics for ordinary domestic
consumption.

"¢ 1n the instant case, the Respondent falsified water supply operation reports on
five days. Pursuant to Section 681.730™ of the Water Supply Operator Certification regulations,
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the frequency and duration of these violations. coupled with their devasting impact upon the
water supply’s ability to be assured of the safety and quality of the water it distributes to the
public, results in a severity warranting not suspension but revocation, as also recommended by
the Water Supply Operator Certification Advisory Board, and that the Respondent’s operator
certification be immediately revoked for a period of four (4) years.

Consequently, I find that the Complainant proved by a preponderance of the evidence
that the Respondent did not conduct the daily testing he was required to perform as a certified
operator for the Clayton Camp Point Water Commission on December 26, 2012; December 27,
2012; December 28, 2012; January 2, 2013; and January 3, 2013, and that this failure went
beyond incompetency and constituted misconduct and gross negligence in the operation of a
public water supply. I also find that the Complainant proved by a preponderance of the evidence
that the Respondent entered fabricated data into the Commission’s records for the results of the
daily testing he was required to conduct as a certified operator, and that the Respondent entered
this false information into reports required to be submitted to Illinois EPA on December 26,
2012; December 27, 2012; December 28, 2012; January 2, 2013; and January 3, 2013. As such, 1
find that cause exists pursuant to Section 10(d) of the Public Water Supply Operations Act to
suspend or revoke the Respondent’s certificate of competency; and .that the severity of the
Respondent’s violations warrants the immediate revocation of his Class A Water Supply

Operator Certification for a period of four (4) years.
i Lokt

SA BONNETT
Director
Illinois Environmental Protection Agency
1021 North Grand Avenue East
P.O. Box 19276
Springfield, Illinois 62794-9276
(217)782-2829

Entered: é/j 5 , 2015

(Nf6nth) (Day)

WITHIN 35 DAYS AFTER RECEIPT OF THIS DECISION, THE OPERATOR MAY
APPEAL THE DECISION TO THE POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD
PURSUANT TO 735 ILL. ADM. CODE 681.735.



AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) SS
COUNTY OF SANGAMON )

I, (name) K l‘i"ﬂh el L{/ 7/< /95 . under oath, state that I have personal
knowledge of the statements contained in this affidavit, that I am over 21 years of age and of
sound mind and body, and if called to testify, I would testify as follows:

1. That a true copy of the foregoing Final Decision was served via certified mail, return

receipt requested. by depositing said document in the U.S. Mail on (month & day)

\J (ME QD . 2015, with proper postage or delivery charge prepaid, in an
envelope or package addressed as follows:
Anthony B. Cameron
Attorney for Respondent
529 Hampshire, Suite 511
Quincy, IL 62301

2. That a true copy of the foregoing Final Decision also was served by personal delivery

on (month & day) . X. ME_AD , 2015 to each of the persons on the service list

below:

Meredith Kelley

Docket Clerk

Illinois Environmental Protection Agency
1021 North Grand Avenue East

Mail Code 21

P.O. Box 19276

Springfield, Illinois 62794-9276

Rex L. Gradeless
Joanne M. Olson
Attorney for Complainant
Division of Legal Counsel

o)
[U'S]



Iilinois Environmental Protection Agency

1021 North Grand Avenue East

P.O. Box 19276

Springfield, Illinois 62794-9276

I have read the foregoing and affirm that the facts contained herein are true and correct to

the best of my knowledge and belief.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT.

BY: 7 / SUBSCR]BED and SWORN to before me
(swnature) this ¢f : Y , 2015,
NuinbDenly Kras Yt
(print name) : Notary Publit
e (\oowfdmdn‘zw*
(print title) (SEAL)

Illinois Environmental Protection Agency
1021 North Grand Avenue East

P.O. Box 19276 § “OFFICIAL SEAL" 3

Springfield, THlinois 62794-9276 uz% Michael J McCabe ’
Notary Public, State of lllincis

§ Commission Expires 9/20/2016 §







